FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 1/28/2021 8:00 AM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/28/2021 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

99457-9 Court of Appeals No. 80853-2

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

GENE and MARALEE BOUMA,

Appellants,

٧.

SILVERADO COMMUNITY ASSOCIATION,

Respondent

APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

Carmen Rowe, WSBA 28468 Attorney for Appellants Gryphon Law Group PS 1673 S. Market Blvd. #202 Chehalis, WA 98532

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Petitioners, Gene and Maralee Bouma (Appellants), requests that this Court grant review of the below identified appellate decision under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) and (4).

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISIONS

At issue is the Court of Appeals decision in *Bouma v. Silverado Community Assoc.*, Division 1 No. 80853-2-1 (unpublished) filed on November 23, 2020, and the order denying reconsideration filed on December 28, 2020. These orders are attached as Exhibits A and B, respectively.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The substance of the Boumas' petition for review addresses (1) decisions on summary judgment that conflict with the standards set forth by the Supreme Court and published appellate cases; (2) conflict with existing law in the Court of Appeals' finding that the original covenants reserved the right for a majority of members to create new covenants, not just change existing ones; (3) the conflict with existing law in the Court of Appeal's finding that the amendments were reasonable and consistent with the general plan of development, and not disproportionately impactful on the Boumas' lots; and (4) allowing attorney's fees and costs under a

covenant provision that allowed fees only for enforcement actions, not actions seeking to determine the validity of a covenant.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioners/Appellants Bouma (Boumas) brought this suit against the Silverado Community Association (Silverado) challenging the validity of amendments to the original covenants governing the Silverado development. There are two plats that make up the Silverado community, "West" and "East". CP 112-14 (West Plat recorded in 2000); CP 132-134 (East Plat recorded in 2010). There were two separate sets of covenants recorded. CP 115-122 (West CCRs, omitting exhibit and well and other agreements not directly pertinent here); CP 147-155 (East CCRs, omitting exhibit and well and other agreements not directly pertinent here). There were eight lots in each of the subdivisions. Lots 1-7 in both plats were 1-acre lots. Lots 8 were 30-acre lots that lay across a river on rolling topography with extensive timber and other features not found in the clusters of 1-acre lots. CP 114 (West Plat); CP 134 (East Plat); see also for illustration aerial pictures CP 115-116 (looking at the large lots in the middle of the aerials, starting at the south side of the visible road and extending straight south).

The original CCRs provided for changes in the covenants by a 60% majority vote, but without any express reservations or

statements of rights for a majority of members to add new covenants unrelated to the existing covenants. See CP 121 ¶ 61 (West CCRs); CP 152 ¶ 6.1 (East CCRs). Both sets of CCRs contained separate provisions that allowed for bylaws, rules and regulations "as [deemed] necessary or advisable for transaction of business." CP 119 ¶ 3.3 (West CCRs); 151 ¶ 3.3 (East CCRs). Such bylaws, rules and regulations were incorporated into the covenants by reference. *Id.* The original CCRs both provided for attorneys' fees and costs "[i]n any action to enforce" any provisions of the covenants. CP 121 ¶ 5.2 (West CCRs); CP 153 ¶ 5.2 (East CCRs). The covenants only cursorily referenced assessments, by providing that there would be no diminution or abatement of assessments for any alleged failures of the Association. CP 119 ¶ 3.2 (West CCRs); CP 150 ¶ 3.2 (East CCRs). There was no particular provision for penalties or fines, and no provision for liens, only a general right of enforcement for violations of the covenants. CP 121 ¶ 5.2 (West CCRs); CP 153 ¶ 5.2 (East CCRs).

In 2008 Gene Bouma Development, Inc. (GBDI, the developer) filed an amendment to the West CCRs (CP 165-169) that, among other more minor provisions, expressly added an exception to the livestock restrictions to allow Lot 8 to have livestock with certain restrictions. CP 167 ¶ 2.6. There were no

changes to the amendment, assessment or enforcement provisions.

GBDI transferred ownership of Lots 8 in both the West and East divisions to the Boumas in their personal capacity.

In 2015 the association members voted on a single set of covenants to replace the original separate West and East CCRs. CP 175-CP 212 (omitting exhibits)(2015 CCRs). These covenants made sweeping and extensive changes, titled "Amended and Fully Restated Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions of the Subdivisions of Silverado West and Silverado East". The 2015 CCRs were signed by all but the Boumas, whose signature pages were "intentionally left blank". There was no signature by anyone authorized to speak on behalf of the members as a whole (such as the President or other officer). The covenant's recording sheet named Gene Bouma Development, Inc. (GBDI) as the grantor. GBDI did not own any of the relevant properties.

The Boumas brought this suit challenging the validity of the 2015 CCRs for the lack of any authorized persons or entity signing on their behalf, or in any representative capacity representing the association or owners as a whole; challenging the validity due to the lack of any authority for a majority of members to add new covenants unrelated to the existing covenants; and the

reasonableness of several provisions that were inconsistent with the general plan of development.

The Boumas brought a motion for summary judgment. The Boumas sought a decision granting their requests for relief as a matter of law. The trial court denied their motion in its entirety. CP 318-330 (July 12, 2018). It issued a lengthy decision that incorporated several findings that should have fallen to the fact finder (a common thread being a determination of intent relevant to interpretation of the covenants, and credibility of witnesses). The trial court improperly designated several questions as to the validity of the covenants (not application of the covenants) as nonjusticiable. The trial court found that various inapplicable provisions of the existing covenants constituted an express reservation of authority for a majority of members to create new covenants unrelated to the existing covenants. This conclusion was contrary to the plain language of the covenants. In these findings, the trial court's decision (and thus later appellate decision affirming the trial court) ran contrary to established authority in conflict with Supreme Court and published appellate decisions.

The Association later brought its own motion to dismiss the Boumas' claims. The trial court granting the motion in its entirety in a simple order. CP 382-383 (November 12, 2019). There was never

APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

any analysis of the claims with the facts looked at in the light most favorable to the Boumas, now the non-moving party, in conflict with long-standing standards of review on summary judgment.

The Association then brought an untimely motion for attorney's fees. The trial court granted the request in its entirety, accepting the attorney declarations at face value without any findings or conclusions or analysis. CP 510-14. The trial court's finding of excusable neglect in allowing the untimely filing was in conflict with Supreme Court and published appellate opinions that expressly reject the same set of circumstances as excusable neglect. The trial court decision also conflicts with uniform longstanding caselaw by failing to engage in or enter the necessary record for review (no evidence of the necessary analysis, and none of the necessary elements in its award).

On appeal, the Boumas challenged all three decisions. In an order entered November 9, 2020, the Court of Appeals upheld the trial court's holdings. The Court of Appeals' order was substantially comprised by accepting the trial court's decision wholesale, using a lengthy quote of the trial court's decision on the Boumas' motion for summary judgment as the bulk of its opinion without independent analysis.

Upon the Association's motion for reconsideration regarding the fees, which the Court of Appeals decision had not addressed, the Court of Appeals entered a revised order on December 28, 2020. (Exhibit A). The Boumas filed a timely motion for reconsideration, which was denied by order entered December 28, 2020. (Exhibit B).

V. ARGUMENT

This Court may grant review where a decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court or a published decision of the Court of Appeals, or involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) and (4).

This case involves several issues that meet these criteria. The decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with Supreme Court and published appellate decisions on several core issues. Several of the core issues are also of substantial public interest as they have a fundamental impact on the basic governance of community associations, which in turn impacts thousands of homeowners in Washington. The decision regarding attorney's fees likewise also impacts all homeowners and associations as it conflicts with the prior caselaw delineating what types of claims subject the parties in any association disputes to attorney's fees and costs under the

APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

language found in these covenants, which is also strongly resembles that in the relatively new Washington Uniform Common Interest Ownership Act (WUCIOA), RCW 64.90.685 - reinforcing the need for clarity on what types of claims this language covers.

The precedent set by the appellate decision with respect to standards of review on summary judgment and the timeliness of motions for attorney's fees and costs also conflicts with a long line of Supreme Court and appellate decisions and creates confusion.

Α. Decision of Court of Appeals is in conflict with decisions of the Supreme Court and published appellate cases - Procedural Issues.

The Court of Appeals decision is in direct conflict with Supreme Court and unpublished appellate decisions on several basic tenets of a summary judgment analysis.

1. Witness credibility on motion for summary judgment.

The trial court's decision incorporated a number of findings of fact and determinations of witness credibility. The Court of Appeals' decision adopted the trial court's decision wholesale. For example, the trial court made several determinations as to the credibility of a witness. See, e.g., CP 323:23-24. The appellate decision conflicted with *Wilkinson v. Chiwawa* by ignoring what this Court directed to be considered in the "surrounding facts" inquiry: consideration of the general character of the rural community in APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW 8 determining the homeowner's expectations. *Wilkinson v. Chiwawa*, 180 Wn.2d 241, 280, 327 P.3d 614 (2014).

There is also the interesting question of which standard of interpretation applies when the homeowner involved in the dispute was previously the developer. The analysis on intent and construction against the drafter is different when the action is between multiple homeowners jointly governed by the covenants. *See, e.g., Wilkinson,* 180 Wn.2d at 249-50, citing *Riss v. Angel,* 131 Wn.2d 612, 621-24, 934 P.2d 669 (1997). There does not appear to be any guiding caselaw on this, making it a point worthy of clarity.

2. Failure to afford a later summary judgment motion an independent reciprocal analysis.

A stark error in direct conflict with well-established summary judgment caselaw was the failure to reverse the standard of review when reviewing the Association's motion. The Court of Appeals simply referenced them as "competing motions", but they were not. On the Boumas' motion, it was proper to look at the facts in the light most favorable to the Association. But neither the trial court nor the Court of Appeals engaged in the reverse analysis on the Association's motion. Under the Court of Appeals' decision, an original moving party will not be given the opportunity to have the facts read in the light most favorable to them when the tables are later turned. This conflicts with basic precedential caselaw. APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW 9

3. Allowance of an untimely motion contrary to the requirements of well-established caselaw.

The appellate decision contradicts explicit caselaw when it allowed the Association's untimely motion for attorney's fees and costs based upon a finding of excusable neglect. The Court of Appeals relied upon the fact that the then-present counsel was new to the case after entry of the summary judgment order. But that finding ignores the fact that the Association's attorneys had multiple opportunities. The Association's subsequent counsel had the time to file a motion to enlarge time under CR 6, and indeed filed other motions that date. A finding of excusable neglect under these circumstances conflicts with published caselaw. See, e.g., Puget Sound Medical Supply v. Washington State Dept. of Social and Health Services, 156 Wn. App. 364, 376 (2010)(multiple citations omitted)(where a party fails to seek additional time when it had the opportunity to do so there are no grounds for "excusable neglect). There is also a greater public purpose in holding counsel accountable: such a finding defeats the purpose of having rules that the parties can rely upon, and invites a casual disregard for such rules. Counsel could have done something. They simply chose not to. That does not warrant a departure from the law.

B. <u>Decision of Court of Appeals is in conflict with</u> <u>decisions of the Supreme Court and published appellate</u> <u>decisions governing analysis of amendments to</u> <u>covenants: the language did not authorize a majority to</u> APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW 10

create new covenants, and the amendments were not consistent with the general plan of development.

The Appellate Court upheld the trial court's determination that the existing covenants expressly authorized creation of new covenants. This finding runs directly contrary to the line of Supreme Court and published appellate decisions explicitly holding that language such as that found in the covenants here authorize only *changes* to covenants, not *creation* of new covenants unrelated to the existing covenants. The decision also fails to recognize the contradiction of the new amendments with the general plan of development by way of conclusions that conflict with similar precedential cases.

1. Wilkinson v. Chiwawa and related cases.

a. The Wilkinson standard.

The touchstone case setting forth the analysis for determining whether an amendment to covenants is valid is *Wilkinson*, 180 Wn.2d. Two other primary cases involved in this analysis are *Shafer v. Bd. Of Trs. Of Sandy Hook Yacht Club Estates, Inc.*, 136 Wn.App. 787, 793, 150 P.3d 1163 (2007) and *Meresse v. Stelma*, 100 Wn. App. 857, 865-66, 999 P.2d 1267 (2000). The *Wilkinson* court also heavily incorporated the decision in *Lakeland Prop. Owners Ass'n v. Larson*, 121 III.App.3d 805, 249

APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

N.E.2d 1164, 77 III.Dec. 68 (1984), which *Meresse* had incorporated into its decision as well.

There are three main components to the *Wilkinson* analysis, all resting upon prior precedential caselaw. The first question is whether the amendment created a new covenant or merely changed the existing covenants. There must be "an express reservation of power authorizing less than 100 percent of property owners within a subdivision to adopt new restrictions". *Shafer*, 76 Wn. App. at 273-74, quoted in *Meresse* at 100 Wn. App. at 865. If the existing covenants allow changes to, but not the addition of, the existing covenants, a majority vote "must be consistent with the general plan of development *and* related to an existing covenant." *Wilkinson*, 180 Wn.2d at 257 (emphasis retained). An amendment is invalid and improperly and seeks to deprive the minority homeowners of their property rights if it attempted to create a new covenant without authority to do so in the existing covenants. *Id*.

The court then looks to determining whether the amendment by majority vote created a new covenant within the general plan of development, or if it changed an existing one. A basic provision to "change or alter" the existing covenants allows *changes* but not the addition of *new* covenants unrelated to existing ones. *Wilkinson*, 180 Wn.2d at 256-57.

Finally, the amendment must be reasonable and consistent with the general plan of development. *Wilkinson*, 180 Wn.2d at 256-57; *Shafer,* 136 Wn.App. at 793; *Meresse*, 100 Wn. App. at 865-66.

The *Wilkinson* court emphasized the purpose behind limitations on a simple majority rule as set forth in *Meresse*: "This rule protects the reasonable, settled expectation of landowners by giving them the power to block " 'new covenants which have no relation to existing ones' " and deprive them of their property rights ... '[t]he law will not subject a minority of landowner to unlimited and unexpected restrictions on the use of their land'." *Wilkinson* at 256.

Yet subjecting the minority of homeowners to the "unlimited and unexpected restrictions on the use of their land" is exactly what the Court of Appeals decision does here, in conflict with the above law. The appellate decision in this case blurs the line between covenants such as those in *Shafer* and those in *Wilkinson* and *Meresse* such that it ceases to exist altogether.

The distinction is important, and ignoring it conflicts with purposeful precedent in Washington. There is a recognized split between the states as to which fork in the road this analysis will take. *See, e.g., Adams v. Kimberley One Townhouse Owner's Association, Inc.*, 158 Idaho 770, 352 P.3d 492, 497 (2015). The

APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

appellate court's decision takes Washington down the other fork of the road than the path set out by this Court in *Wilkinson*.

For example, in *Adams* the Idaho Supreme Court rejected the *Wilkinson* approach, finding that a homeowner had to expect any amendment, whether it created a new covenant or not. The Court of Appeals decision here results in an approach that follows the Idaho court in *Adam*. That directly conflicts with the path set by this Court in *Wilkinson*.

b. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with *Wilkinson* and related caselaw.

In this case, the covenants provided that the declarations "may be amended in whole or in part signed by not less than Sixty percent (60%) of the owners of the lots affected by this Declaration." CP 122 (West CCRs ¶ 6.1), CP 154 (East CCRs ¶ 6.1).

To compare, in *Wilkinson* the covenants gave the members the power "to change these protective restrictions and covenants in whole or in part" by majority vote. *Wilkinson,* 180 Wn.2d at 246. In *Meresse,* the covenants were binding and effective until "majority vote of the then owners agree to change or alter them in full or in part." 100 Wn. App. at 859. In *Lakeland,* "the majority of the then owners of the lots in said subdivision [agrees] to change the said covenants in whole or in part." 459 N.E.2d at 1167. APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW 14 The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with the reading of this language in *Wilkinson* and the like. The err rests largely in the improper and illogical extension of the provision allowing institution of *bylaws and rules and regulations* to be taken to authorize the adoption of new restrictions for the *covenants*.

The Court of Appeals decision also adopted the trial court's reasoning that allowance of a "supplemental" declaration in the enforcement section meant that the intent was to allow *new* restrictions. But aside from the fact that this reading contradicts the plain language of the covenants, none of this equates an *express* reservation of the right to create new covenants. Again, this conflicts with the *Wilkinson* and related caselaw. The covenant affirming that any "amended or supplemental declaration shall be enforceable" does not mean that such amended or supplemental declaration doesn't have to be properly amended to begin with.

As a matter of law, Washington caselaw unambiguously provides that the Silverado original covenants allowed for *changes to* existing covenants, but not *creation* of covenants unrelated to the existing covenants. The language is the same as that in *Willkinson* and *Meresse*. The appellate decision is in conflict with that line of cases. Review is thus appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2).

APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

Minimally, the question of intent should have remained a question of fact, as also necessary to remain in line with established precedent, as discussed above. If the existing caselaw did not clearly determine whether the language in the original covenants here allowed for adoption of new covenants, the appellate and trial court's cursory conclusion as to intention on a summary judgment motion is in conflict with that line of precedent.

The following sections reference some of the notable significant examples of new restrictions unrelated to the existing covenants to illustrate the inappropriate additions.

c. Liens

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