FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/26/2021 12:11 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

## No. 99457-9

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

## GENE and MARALEE BOUMA,

Appellants,

VS.

## SILVERADO COMMUNITY ASSOCIATION,

Respondent.

# RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

William C. Gibson, WSBA #26472 Martin J. Pujolar, WSBA #36049 FORSBERG & UMLAUF, P.S. 901 Fifth Avenue, Suite 1400 Seattle, WA 98164 (206) 689-8500

Email: CGibson@FoUm.law Email: MPujolar@FoUm.law Attorneys for Respondent

## **

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

### IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

RAP 13.4(b) provides that a petition for review will be accepted by this Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

The Boumas rely on RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4) for the basis of their Petition for Review. The Boumas' failure to trigger the application of any of these three bases for review is discussed below.

# A. There is No Conflict with a Decision of the Washington Supreme Court on Multiple Relevant Issues -- RAP 13.4(b)(1)

# 1. "Witness Credibility" and "Independent Reciprocal Analysis"

The Boumas argue incorrectly that the Court of Appeals "ignored [what this Court] directed to be considered in the 'surrounding facts' inquiry" under *Wilkinson v. Chiwawa Communities Ass'n*, 180 Wn.2d 241, 327 P.3d 614 (2014). See p. 8 of Pet. For Review. The Boumas also erroneously contend that the Court of Appeals "failed to reverse the standard of review when reviewing the Associations motion for summary judgment". *Id.* The Boumas' arguments are based on their "misperception" that *credibility issues* mattered in determining the Boumas' and

Association's "competing" motions for summary judgment on the legal issues of interpretation of CCRs. See p.8 of Pet. For Review. They did not.

As noted by the Court of Appeals, "the [Boumas'] motion posed legal rather that factual questions" and "[b]y virtue of their filing their motions seeking summary judgment each party asserted there were disputes over material facts". See Fn. 1 and p. 4 of Court of Appeals decision. Moreover, the Court of Appeals correctly noted that Boumas' and Association's motions were essentially identical. "[T]he Boumas' response to the Association's motion for summary judgment listed the evidence they relied upon as 'this brief, their brief in support of their earlier motion for summary judgment, the declaration of Gene Bouma, the second declaration of Gene Bouma, and all other pleadings and papers filed in this matter.' The response brief mirrored their arguments in support of their earlier motion, and all other evidence had been previously available. There were no questions of material fact." Id. The Court of Appeals disposition of the legal questions posed by the Boumas' and Association's summary judgment motions, without addressing "credibility" issues, does not trigger the application of RAP 13.4(b)(1).

Contrary to the claim on page 9 of the Boumas' Petition, the Court of Appeals' <u>procedural handling</u> of the Bouma and Association "competing" summary judgment motions was also proper and consistent

with Wilkinson v. Chiwawa Communities Ass'n. In Wilkinson, both sides moved for summary judgment. *Id.* at 248. The Wilkinson Court noted that "[t]he parties largely agree] on the materials facts". *Id.* at 249.

Under those circumstances, the *Wilkinson* court was able to look exclusively to the language of the prior CC&Rs and the 2011 Amendment to decide the case for <u>one</u> of the two moving parties (as a matter of law) on their competing motions without needing to draw reasonable "inferences" from the "relevant" evidence for either side in the dispute. <u>That is what the Court of Appeals did in this case</u>.

Accordingly, the Court of Appeals' resolution of the Boumas' and Association's "competing" summary judgment motions was <u>consistent</u> with the Supreme Court's handling of the "competing" motions in *Wilkinson*. It does not trigger the application of RAP 13.4(b)(1).

## 2. "Intent" and "Interpretation."

The Boumas incorrectly assert that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with *Wilkinson* on the issues of "intent" and "interpretation". Specifically, the Petitioners contend, "The appellate decision conflicted with *Wilkinson v. Chiwawa* by ignoring what this Court directed to be considered in the 'surrounding facts' inquiry: consideration of the general character of the rural community in determining the homeowner's expectations. [Citation omitted.] There is also the interesting question of

which standard of interpretation applies when the homeowner involved in the dispute was previously the developer. The analysis on intent and construction against the drafter is different when the action is between multiple homeowners jointly governed by the covenants". Pet. For Review, pp. 8-9.

Contrary to the Boumas' position, the Court of Appeals followed *Wilkinson* on the issues of "intent" and "interpretation". The *Wilkinson* decision recognized that the trial court must ignore "extrinsic evidence" that "would vary, contradict or modify the written word or show an intention independent of the instrument" when determining the "intent" behind the language of the Original CC&Rs and the 2015 Amended CC&Rs (in the context of a motion for summary judgment). *Id.* at 256-257. This holding was properly followed by the Court of Appeals in its decision.

Applying the rules of contract interpretation, the trial court was able to determine the drafter's intent as a matter of law <u>and</u> conclude that power the adopt the 2015 Amended CC&Rs was "exercised in a reasonable manner consistent with the general plan of development". *Wilkinson v. Chiwawa Communities Ass'n*, 180 Wn.2d 241, 257, 327 P.3d 614 (2014). The Court of Appeals properly agreed with the trial court on this issue.

Contrary to the position taken by the Boumas, the trial court did not have to look to "evidence" outside of the Original CC&Rs and 2015

#### Amended CC&Rs to do that:

The Court concludes that the Association had authority to adopt amended covenants as a whole and that amending the covenants was consistent with the general plan of development. In 2000 and 2001, the Developer recorded covenants and created a homeowners' association to govern Silverado East and West. As part of that governance structure, the Developer also authorized the Association to revise and amend the covenants "in whole or in part". (Restrictive Covenants ¶ 6.1). Furthermore, under Washington's Homeowners' Association statute, RCW 64.38.20, the Association has statutory authority to "exercise any other powers necessary and proper for the governance and operation of the association." Nothing in the original covenants restricts the authority of the Association to amend its covenants or limits its ability to govern the residential development.

## CP 321-22 (italics added).

There simply were no triable "issues of fact" that prevented the trial court from its (1) "interpretation" of the language used in the Original CC&Rs and 2015 Amended CC&Rs and (2) deciding the intent of them as a matter of law (when denying the Boumas' motion). Wilkinson required the trial court below to (1) "give covenant language 'its ordinary and common use' and [ ] not construe a term in such a way 'so as to defeat the plain and obvious meaning" and (2) "examine the language of the restrictive covenant and consider the instrument in its entirety". Wilkinson, supra. The trial court obviously did so when it properly denied the Boumas' motion for summary judgment. For this reason, the Court of Appeals'

affirmance of the trial court's disposition of the competing summary judgment motions is not in conflict with *Wilkinson* and does not trigger the application of RAP 13.4(b)(1).

## 3. The Wilkinson and Shafer Standards

The Boumas argue that that the Court of Appeals decision "blurs the line between covenants such as those in *Shafer* and those in *Wilkinson* and *Meresse* such that it ceases altogether". See p. 13 of Pet. for Review. This, the Boumas claim, triggers the application of RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2). However, a review of the facts, CC&Rs, and holdings in the cases shows that the Boumas are mistaken in their views. The relevant and meaningful distinctions between the *Wilkinson* and *Shafer* decisions were recognized and followed by the Court of Appeals in this case. See pp. 6 and 7 of the Court of Appeals decision.

In Shafer v. Bd. Of Trs. of Sandy Hook Yacht Club Estates, Inc., 76 Wn. App. 267 (1994), the Court held that when dissenting homeowners "had notice of the reservation of power" that allowed the homeowner corporation to create new covenants that benefit the community, the adoption of new covenants is permitted. Id. at 270, 272, 277. This issue was also addressed by the Washington Court in Wilkinson v. Chiwawa Communities Ass'n. In Wilkinson, "the Chiwawa general plan did not authorize a majority of owners to adopt new covenants". Id. at 256

(emphasis added). In that context, the *Wilkinson* Court distinguished the facts of the *Shafer* case and noted:

While it is true that in *Shafer*, the court upheld the adoption of new restrictions on outdoor storage of inoperative motor vehicles and commercial fishing, even though no such rule had previously existed, the court did so only because the dissenting homeowners "had notice of the reservation of power" that allowed the homeowner corporation to create new covenants that benefited the community. 76 Wn. App. at 270, 272, 277. The Chiwawa homeowners did not. We reject the Association's position in favor of protecting the reasonable and settled expectation of landowners in their property.

*Id.* at 257.

In the <u>instant</u> case, it is clear that the Boumas had notice of the Association's reservation of power to amend the Original CC&Rs. The Boumas themselves developed Silverado East and Silverado West in the early 2000s. See CP 107-08. The Boumas' development company, Gene Bouma Development, Inc., made and entered the <u>original</u> Declaration of CC&Rs of the Subdivision Silverado West. CP 115-123 and Footnote 3 of the Court of Appeals decision. It allows for the amendment "in whole or in part" by 60% of the owners of the lots". See CP 122 and p. 3 of the Court of Appeals decision.

Similarly, the Boumas made and entered the Original CC&Rs of the Subdivision Silverado East, which also allows for the amendments "in whole or in part" by 60% of the owners of the lots". CP 154 and p. 3 of the

Court of Appeals decision. Moreover, Gene Bouma had previously served as President of the Association and his tenure as President was more than 10 years. CP 243.

Mr. Bouma was the authorized representative for the Association for previous amendments with 60%, and not 100%, requirements for amendment by the owners of the lots. CP 165-74. He not only knew about the Association's reservation of power, but he wielded it more than once during his tenure as President of the Association.

The Boumas were fine with changes to the CC&Rs when Mr. Bouma was President and was directing the changes to the CC&Rs. *See* CP 165-174. The Boumas expected the other lot owners of Silverado to abide by the rules and regulations when Mr. Bouma was in charge of the Association. The Boumas should have the same expectations now – despite the fact that Mr. Bouma is no longer President.

Because the Association's reservation of power was known to the Boumas, the Association was within its right to enact the 2015 Amended CC&Rs. In deciding the Boumas' motion for summary judgment, the trial court properly concluded that the *Wilkinson* requirements for "new" covenants were met by the 2015 Amended CC&Rs:

Here, any covenant change requires more than a simple majority. But <u>Wilkinson</u> requires the Court to examine whether the covenants authorize new restrictions or only

permit changing existing ones. The Court concludes that the covenants authorize the Association to adopt new restrictions. First, under paragraph 3.3, the covenants expressly provide for new restrictions, although in a technically infeasible way.

The Association may adopt bylaws and rules and regulations as it deems necessary or advisable for transaction of business. Such bylaws and rules and regulations are incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein and each lot owner shall be required to abide by the rules and regulations.

(Restrictive Covenants ¶ 3.3) ([underlining] added). The italicized language attempts to merge restrictive covenants with bylaws and rules and regulations, which is problematic. But significant here is that the Developer intended the Association to adopt new bylaws and rules that would then have the force of restrictive covenants. This is clear evidence that the Developer intended the Association to adopt new restrictions as the residential development evolved.

Second, under paragraph 5.2, titled enforcement, the covenants state "the provisions contained in this Declaration or any amended <u>or supplemental declaration</u> shall be enforceable by proceeding for prohibitive or mandatory injunction." (Restrictive Covenants ¶ 5.2) (emphasis added). *Again, the [highlighted] language expressly provides for additional covenants beyond amendments to the current ones.* Under <u>Wilkinson</u>, the Court concludes that the original declarations intended the Association to adopt new restrictions to govern the residential neighborhood as it developed. <u>Wilkinson</u>, 180 Wn.2d at 256.

### CP 322-23 (underlining emphasis original and *italics* added).

The Boumas argued that 15 separate sections of the 2015 Amended CC&Rs were "not enacted in 'a reasonable manner consistent with the general plan of development". *See Wilkinson, supra*. The trial court

properly concluded there was no question of fact about these provisions, interpreted them as the Court properly does in CC&R cases, and ruled they were proper. *See* CP 323-330. The wording of many sections of the 2015 Amended CC&Rs contain similar language to the Original CC&Rs, including the following: Section 3.4 Animals (see CP 117, 149), Section 3.9 Fencing (see CP 118, 150, 183, 135, and 327), Section 3.12 Roof and Siding Materials, Section 4.5 Landscaping. The Court of Appeals' decision is not in conflict with a decision of the Washington Supreme Court.

# B. There is No Conflict with Another Published Court of Appeals Decision on "Excusable Neglect" and "Attorney's Fees" Issues -- RAP 13.4(b)(2)

## 1. "Excusable Neglect"

The Boumas' contend that the Court of Appeals decision "contradicts explicit case law when it allowed the Association's untimely motion for attorney's fees and costs based upon a finding of excusable neglect". The only "error" on the issue of excusable neglect in this case is the Boumas' continued misplaced reliance on "failure to seek additional time" language from *Sound Medical Supply v. Wash. Dep't of Social and Health Svcs.*, 156 Wn. App. 364 (2010). *Sound Medical Supply* was an administrative law case dealing with a different filing rule and procedures. It is not a CR 54(d) case.

In Sound Medical Supply, the Court of Appeals was faced with the

issues of (1) interpreting the statutory language of "good cause" in former WAC 388–02–0580(2) (which was "undefined" and a "matter of first impression") and (2) determining whether the reasons for failure to file a petition for review of a DSHS decision and answer a "judicial summons" before the applicable deadline fell "under the two examples for 'good cause' provided in WAC 388–02–0020(2)". *Id.* at 370 and 373. *Sound Medical Supply* was simply not a CR 54 case involving a motion for attorney's fees that the Court of Appeals had to "follow".

The Court of Appeals followed and properly applied *Corey v. Pierce County*, 154 Wn. App. 752, 774, 225 P.3d 464 (2010) and *Clipse v. Commercial Driver Servs.*, *Inc.*, 189 Wn. App. 776, 787, 358 P.3d 464 (2015) in its unpublished decision. The Court of Appeals' holding on "excusable neglect" did not conflict with CR 54-related holdings of other Courts of Appeal and trigger the application of RAP 13.4(b)(2).

## 2. "Attorney's Fees"

The Boumas claim that the Court of Appeals decision "conflicts with *Meresse* and similar cases" in allowing the Association to recover its attorney's fees and costs. It is not clear what "other similar cases" to which the Boumas are referring. What is clear, however, is that the Court of Appeals' decision is not in conflict with the distinguishable *Meresse* case.

In *Meresse v. Stelma*, 100 Wn. App. 857 (2000), the attorney's fee provision at issue read:

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